
 

 
 

March 11, 2019 
 

 The Washington County Board of Commissioners met in a regular session on Monday, 
March, 11 2019 at 6:00 PM in the Auditorium of the Beaufort County Community College 
Washington County Center, 100 NC Hwy 32 North, Roper.  Commissioners Johnson, Phelps, 
Riddick, Sexton and Walker were present.  Also present were County Manager/County Attorney 
Curtis Potter, Clerk to the Board Julie J. Bennett and Finance Officer Missy Dixon. 
 

Chair Johnson called the meeting to order. Mr. Lloyd Jones gave the invocation.  Ms. 
De’Zyre Williams, 2nd grader at Pines Elementary School led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

 
ADDITIONS/DELETIONS: Commissioner Phelps made a motion to delete Item 8 

Installment Financing for Sheriff’s Vehicles.  Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion passed 
unanimously. 
 
 CONSENT AGENDA:   
 

a) Approval of Minutes 
b) Tax Refunds & Releases and Insolvent Accounts 
c) Resolution:  First Amendment to 1997 Resolution Modifying and Amending Resolutions  

Creating the Regional Planning Commission known as the Albemarle Commission 
d) Fee Schedule Changes:  Animal Control & Building Inspector 
e) 2019 Local Government Agencies General Records Retention and Disposition Schedule 
f) Senior Center Grant Application to Vidant 

 
Commissioner Phelps made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda.  Commissioner 

Riddick seconded, motion passed unanimously.   
 

PUBLIC FORUM:  Mr. Lloyd Jones, 842 Gourd Neck Road, Roper is concerned about 
the hospital.  His doctor doesn’t have a place to send him if he gets sick. He said he hopes the 
Commissioners are doing all in their power to open the hospital up even better than before.  Mr. 
Jones said he is also concerned about the solar farms.  He feels that it takes away good farmland 
for crops. He wants the County to have a moratorium on solar farms. Mr. Jones said let the 
people vote for or against solar farms in Washington County. 

 
Mr. David Clifton, 208 5th Street, Creswell, stated he is on the Planning Board, and said 

public hearings are held for two weeks when solar farms are asking for permits.  Ms. Ann Keyes 
said public hearings are held in her office and will get the info to the Clerk to put on the County 
website when these are scheduled. 
 

POCOSIN INNOVATIVE CHARTER (PIC) SCHOOL:  Mr. Potter spoke first saying 
that PIC may have already made a request of Washington County Schools (WCS).  If WCS 
denies PIC’s request, then the Commissioners could be sitting as the deciding body over their 
appeal as a quasi-judicial board. Mr. Potter advised the Commissioner not to discuss the use of 
Creswell High School or any other facility owned by WCS. 

 



 

Ms. Stephanie Phelps, Chair of PIC, said she was at this meeting to introduce PIC to the 
Board. 

 
Ms. Phelps spoke about the following: 
 

 A charter school is a free NC Public School open to all. 
 

 A charter is run by the board of a non-profit organization and not an elected board. 
 

 Pocosin Innovative Charter applied to the NC Charter Board in 2018 requesting a charter 
and acceleration to open in 2019. (Acceleration means the school could open in one year 
instead of the normal two years.) 
 

 Pocosin Innovative Charter was granted a charter on February 7, 2019, and is one of only 
three schools approved for acceleration in 2019.  
 

 Pocosin Innovative Charter will be a K-8 school. 
 

 Pocosin Innovative Charter has more than 180 student applications as of March 1, 2019 
and multiple applications for director and teacher positions. 

 
Ms. Phelps said PIC has been approved as K-8 charter school and will be able to add a 

year each year.  The main focus will be regional agriculture. 
 
Ms. Phelps said they are still taking applications; the deadline is March 7 and then they 

will soon be sending out acceptance letters.  
 
PIC will be starting out in modulars, but they have other options.  
 
Mr. Potter asked if PIC has a meeting scheduled with the WCS Board. Ms. Phelps stated 

not at the present time. 
 
Commissioner Phelps asked how will kids apply.  Ms. Phelps said the application is on-

line. 
 
Chair Johnson asked what PIC would be offering that isn’t already offered.  Ms. Phelps 

said PIC would have more freedom for the curriculum. 
  

 Chair Johnson asked how does PIC plan to make sure kids get on the right buses for the 
right school. Ms. Phelps said they would tackle that once PIC is in place. 
 
 Commissioner Phelps asked if PIC is a non-profit.  Ms. Phelps said yes, PIC is a non-
profit. 
 

WASHINGTON COUNTY AUDIT:  Mr. Potter started off by saying the County hoped 
to have a working draft of the audit for tonight’s meeting but that did not happen.  Mr. Potter 
said he met with the auditor, Mr. James Bence, today.  Mr. Bence will give a timeline for the 
receipt of the audit.  Mr. Bence said he did give a draft of the audit to Mr. Potter and Ms. Dixon 
today.  



 

 
Mr. Bence said he is hoping to have the final audit to the LGC by the end of the month.  

He said he met with DSS/Transportation today also and that is the last piece he needs to 
complete the audit. 

 
Commissioner Phelps said he had several questions. He asked Mr. Bence if he had seen 

the contract between Mauldin & Jenkins and Washington County.  Commissioner Phelps said the 
deadline for the audit was October 31st.  Commissioner Phelps asked if Mr. Bence could explain 
the delay.  Commissioner Phelps told Mr. Bence that the County went with Mauldin & Jenkins 
because Mr. Fraley and Mr. Black said they would have a timely audit to us.  Mr. Bence said this 
was a first year audit and the hurricane created a hiccup in the timeline.   

 
Commissioner Phelps asked Mr. Bence if he thought it was acceptable to be 5 months 

late.  Commissioner Phelps asked if this was the practice of his firm. Mr. Bence did not give an 
answer to Commissioner Phelps. 

 
Commissioner Phelps referenced the July 17, 2018 minutes where Mr. Fraley and Mr. 

Black were in attendance and made their presentation to the Commissioners and what they could 
do for our County if we hired them to do the County’s audit.  Commissioner Phelps said that he 
spoke to both Halifax County and Gates County (who are also serviced by Mauldin & Jenkins)  
and their audits are late too and they said they’d put out for an RFP today if they could.  
Commissioner Phelps reiterated that at the July 17, 2018 meeting, Mr. Fraley said they were 
never late on an audit and that their office being in Atlanta was not an issue. 

 
Commissioner Phelps said he and Commissioner Sexton don’t agree on much, but 

Commissioner Sexton was right when he voted against going with Mauldin & Jenkins.  
Commissioner Phelps asked Mr. Potter when the County can put out the RFP for a new auditing 
firm.  Mr. Potter asked to wait until the County receives our audit to discuss this. 

 
Chair Johnson said she has been hearing that the auditor has been asking for the same 

information from our staff more than once. Mr. Bence said he can’t confirm or deny that answer 
without knowing what issue is being referring to. 

    
Commissioner Phelps wanted to know why Mr. Fraley and Mr. Black weren’t in 

attendance at this meeting.  Commissioner Phelps said the Board requested that they attend.  Mr. 
Potter said we did not request a specific auditor to attend and Mr. Bence is the one who has been 
here working with Ms. Dixon. 

 
Commissioner Phelps asked Mr. Bence if the County would receive our final audit on 

April 1.  Mr. Bence said yes. 
 
Commissioner Phelps said that he still feels this is unacceptable. 
  
The Board considered having a second meeting in April (on the 8th) to review the audit 

since the auditors will be unable to attend the Board’s regular meeting on April 1. 
 

PUBLIC HEARING:  TAX DISCOUNT PROGRAM:    
 



 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to open the public hearing on the Tax 
Discount Program.   Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion passed unanimously.   

Mr. Potter stated that at a previous Commissioners’ meeting, it was discussed as whether 
or not to keep the County’s current tax discount program.  The Commissioners asked to have a 
public hearing on this.   
 

The current program is as follows: 
 

The Washington County Board of Commissioners previously adopted a schedule to allow 
discounts for the payment of property taxes prior to the due date; 
 

Taxes paid by July 31  2% discount 
Taxes paid by August 31 1% discount 

 
Also, Commissioner Phelps had requested to know how many people take advantage of 

the discounts.  Ms. Wilkins ran a report that showed for the 2018 tax year, out of 8,145 accounts 
that were billed, 3,270 took advantage of the discount or 40%.  
 

Commissioner Phelps asked Ms. Wilkins if she thinks the citizens aren’t aware of the 
program.  Ms. Wilkins stated that it is on every tax bill; however, some citizens just like to hold 
on to their money until December. 

 
In an effort to make sure the citizens are informed, Ms. Wilkins said she runs ads in The 

Roanoke Beacon before the bills go out and it is on the tax bill. 
 
Mr. Lloyd Jones, Roper, said to keep the program going. 
 
Commissioner Phelps said there are a lot of citizens in attendance at the meeting tonight 

so he would like to make sure they understand it and would like to hear from them. 
 
Mr. George Swain, Plymouth and Ms. Yanisha Mann, WCS Superintendent both said 

yes, keep the program going.  Ms. Zina Rhodes, DSS Transportation Supervisor said to keep it 
going; however, she didn’t know about it. Ms. Mann said she could send information out to 
parents through the students. 

 
Ms. Wilkins said $58,000 was saved last year with the tax discount program. 
 
Commissioner Phelps said he does support the program. 
 
Chair Johnson asked Ms. Wilkins if the Board could hold a public hearing each year on 

the tax discount program. Ms. Wilkins said yes; however if any changes need to be made to the 
program they would have to be made before April of each year. 

 
Commissioner Phelps made a motion to close the public hearing on the Tax 

Discount Program.   Commissioner  Sexton seconded, motion passed unanimously.   
 
 
Commissioner Walker said he feels the County should continue the tax discount program. 
 



 

Another citizen said some may not be able to take advantage of the program, due to not 
having funds in July and August.  Ms. Wilkins noted that the discounts can only be offered in 
July and August—not past September. 

 
Mr. Potter said the benefits are there, but there is a cost. 
 
Ms. Rhodes asked if more people took advantage of the tax discounts could the County 

pay off more things. Mr. Potter said the County can’t always depend on that. 
 
The Tax Discount Program will continue. 

 
CHANGE ORDER 2 FROM THE WOOTEN COMPANY:   Mr. Potter discussed the 

following information: 
 



 

 



 

 



 

 
 



 

 



 

 
Commissioner Phelps made a motion approve The Wooten Company’s Change 

Order 2 on the Commerce Building Water and Sewer Project.  Commissioner Walker 
seconded, motion passed unanimously.   
 
 LAWN MOWING BIDS:  Mr. Potter stated that he put out the RFP for Lawn Mowing 
Bids as the Board requested.  Commissioner Phelps said his issue with the company who had the 
contract last year did not do as they promised in their contract.  Commissioner Phelps said he 
called the County Manager’s Office constantly with the complaints that he had received.  Mr. 
Potter stated that company only bid to do the mowing at MTW Health Department this year.  Mr. 
Potter said that if the County contracts with more than one company, they would be competing 
and may perform better.  Discussion ensued over the proposals below. 
 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 
 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 
 

Commissioner Riddick made a motion approve the County Manager to go into 
negotiations with Mr. Norman for the Lawn Mowing contract. Commissioner Phelps 
seconded, motion passed unanimously.   
 
 

APPROVAL OF AVIATION GRANT AGREEMENT 36237.40.13.1:   Mr. Potter went 
over the following information regarding Aviation Grant Agreement 36237.40.13.1. 

 
 



 



 

 



 

 
 (The grant is incorporated by reference and hereby made a part of these minutes.) 
 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to authorize the Board Chair and County 
Manager to execute and deliver the attached Grant Agreement together with any 
modifications or other instruments suggested by the County Attorney for preserving and 



 

protecting the legal or financial interests of the County, and to deliver the same to the 
Division of Aviation to obtain or provide for the funding of the construction of the parallel 
taxiway project at the PMZ Airport as described in the attached documents.  
Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion passed unanimously. 
 

FINANCE OFFICER’S REPORT:  Ms. Dixon went over the budget transfer and 
amendments below and the Finance Officer’s Report.  



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 
 



 

 
 



 

 
 



 

 



 

 
 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 
 
  
Commissioner Phelps made a motion to approve BA# 2019-059, BA# 2019-060, BT# 

2019-065, BT# 2019-066, BT# 2019-067, BT# 2019-068, BA# 2019-069, BT #2019-070, BT# 
2019-071, BA# 2019-072, BA# 2019-073 as presented above.   Discussion ensued regarding 



 

BA# 2019-74.  Commissioner Phelps said he did not want the money coming out of the 
Skinnersville and Creswell Capital Outlay money to fix the Washington Street Gym. His motion 
was to approve all of the budget transfers and budget amendments except for BA#2019-74.  Mr. 
Potter stated that the Washington Street Gym is in dire need of repair—specifically the roof and 
the current Recreation budget for maintenance and repair will not cover the roof.  Commissioner 
Riddick  seconded, motion passed unanimously. 

 
Commissioner Riddick made a motion to amend BA#2019-74 for $5,000 to come out 

of the general fund instead of taking $2,500 from the Skinnersville capital outlay budget 
and $2,500 from the Creswell capital outlay budget.  Commissioner Phelps seconded, 
motion passed unanimously. 
 

Commissioner Phelps asked Ms. Dixon what level should the departments should be at. 
Ms. Dixon said 58%. She also said she is still watching Detention and 911.  Commissioner 
Phelps asked about EMS. Ms. Dixon said they had a little increase in their fuel monies due to 
having to take patients to various hospitals since WCH is still closed. 
  
 OTHER ITEMS BY CHAIRPERSON, COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY MANAGER/ 
ATTORNEY OR CLERK:   
  
 Chair Johnson met with Senator Burr about the hospital; she went to Senator Tillis’s 
office; she talked to GK Butterfield and had a nice discussion about trying to get payment to 
those individuals at WCH who have not been paid.  Chair Johnson said we are still waiting to see 
what the bankruptcy court allows us to do or not to do.  
 
 Commissioner Riddick said she went to Raleigh and met with Rep. Goodwin and 
Senator Steinburg regarding the hospital and what the County could do to get the hospital 
employees paid. 
 
 Commissioner Phelps thanked the Mayor of Roper, Mayor Blount for letting the 
Commissioners be here tonight and for all the citizens that came out for this meeting. 
 
 Commissioner Phelps renewed request to have all department heads to submit reports.  
Once again he mentioned that the Sheriff did not submit a report and so the Commissioners 
won’t have anything to go on when they look at his department during the budget. 
 
 Mr. Potter said he has spent a lot of time with the Trustee for the hospital.  Employees 
can only be paid from the time the Trustee took over.  The Trustee is still trying to get back pay 
for them.  Commissioner Riddick thanked Mr. Potter for talking to the folks at the hospital. 
 
 Mr. Potter said he met with the Census folks.  He will bring more information on this 
to the April meeting. 
 
 Mr. Potter said he met with Mr. Jimmy Jones on Sunday regarding Cardinal Lane.  Mr. 
Potter said he will talk to Mr. Jerry Jennings from DOT on Friday at the meeting he has 
scheduled with him and Commissioner Phelps. 
 



 

 Commissioner Phelps made a motion to have tonight’s Closed Session items 
moved into Open Session for transparent government.  Chair Johnson called for a second.  
Motion died due to lack of a second.  
 
 Commissioner Sexton made a motion to go into Closed Session pursuant to 
NCGS §143-318.11 (a)(3) (attorney-client privilege) Washington County et. at. v. CAH 
Acquisition Company #1, LLC d/b/a Washington County Hospital filed in US Bankruptcy 
Court Eastern District of North Carolina Greenville Division at Case No. 19-00730-5-JNC;  
 
and 
 
Washington County v. Amerisourcebergen Drug Corporation et. al. filed in US District 
Court for the Northern District of Ohio Eastern Division at Case No. 1:17-MD-2804 
(Opioid Litigation) 
 
and  
 
NCGS §143-318.11 (a)(6) (personnel). 
 

Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion carried 4-1 with Commissioner Phelps 
voting nay. 
 
 
 Back in Open Session, Commissioner Phelps made a motion to ratify and add to the 
fee schedule the previously approved building inspection fees on or about August 20, 2012 
for solar panels of $75.00 for residential customers and $0.50 cent per pound with a 
minimum fee of $250.00 for commercial users for the installation of solar panels. 
Commissioner Johnson seconded, motion passed unanimously. 
 

At 8:30 PM, with no further business to discuss, Commissioner Phelps  made a motion 
to adjourn the meeting.  Commissioner Walker seconded, motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 

      Tracey A. Johnson    Julie J. Bennett, CMC, NCCCC 
           Chair                  Clerk to the Board    

 
 
 
 


